1940

Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company, and Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company v. The Industrial Commission of the State of Utah and Lee James Harris : Brief of Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Two questions are herewith presented for review. First, was the applicant, Lee James Harris, injured by an accident which arose out of or in the course of his employment? Second, may the Commission award compensation covering permanent loss of bodily function without evidence of permanent injury? The first question more narrowly stated is simply this: Is an employee entitled to the benefits of the Workmen's Compensation

Act under the following circumstances, to-wit: when he leaves the premises of his employer, goes to his home for his dinner, and, incidentally, to give his sister a ride on a motorcycle, and is injured on the public highway while returning to his employer's place of business?

In considering the following statement of facts, upon which there is no dispute, two questions must be kept in mind. First, at the time of the accident, what duty was Harris performing that benefited or furthered the interests of his employers? Second, at the time of the accident, who had control of his activities?

It is earnestly believed that this Court will not sustain this decision of the Industrial Commission, which has departed from a fundamental and well-settled rule of law which, simply stated, is this: That when an employee goes on a personal errand of his own, to-wit: to get a meal at his home, he departs from his employment and is not covered.

The material facts which are undisputed are briefly these: Harris was a part-time employee, having been employed only five days. On the day in question, May 8, 1939, near the close of the day's work, a rush job had come in and he was instructed to remove the wheels from this truck while his foreman, Ed Schneider, and another employee went after the new wheels. After the foreman had left, Harris helped himself to a motorcycle belonging to plaintiff, Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, and left the premises, as he says, to get his supper, but as was also proven, to give his sister a ride. A few minutes

later, while returning to work, he lost control of the same and he crashed into a house, injuring himself.

The theory of workmen's compensation is itself a departure from the common law rule, which did not require one to pay for another's injury unless caused by fault. The cases limit this payment of compensation without fault to accidents which arise out of or happen in the course of the employment. Manifestly, the decision of the Industrial Commission requiring the employer to compensate the employee for an accident which happened away from the employer's premises, wholly disconnected from his business and at a time when the employer had no control and direction over the employee, is contrary to law. The decision of the Commission herein is directly opposed to a well-settled rule of law of this state.

THE FACTS IN THE CASE.

As applied to the first question, it conclusively appears that Ed Schneider was the foreman in charge of the station of the Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, and that the applicant understood such was the case is apparent from his testimony in the transcript page 11. Again at transcript page 7 appears the following testimony of the applicant: "Ed Schneider was in charge of the service department where I was working," and "he had never given me any instructions about using the motorcycle at any time."

Ed Schneider testified that he was the assistant service manager and that Harris was working under his

direction. (Tr. 14) He further testified, "My instructions were, when I left to get the wheels, that Mr. Sims and Mr. Erickson were to get lunch and while I was gone, he (Harris) was to take the wheels off the truck and after I got back and the other boys got back, we would let him (Harris) go. I told him when I got back and the other boys got back, he and I would go." (Tr. 35) I told him to stay there until I got back (Tr. 36) "and against instructions, he left the premises." (Tr. 39) He had been directed to take off the inside nuts, but "he left before that was finished." (Tr. 40)

At page 15 of the transcript appears the following testimony by the applicant:

Q. Mr. Schneider was the one who employed you?

A. Yes.

Q. He didn't say you could take the motorcycle to go home or go to supper?

A. No, he didn't.

There is nothing in the record that even intimates that the employer sent Harris home for his supper. On the contrary, the evidence shows that he violated the instructions given to him by assistant manager Schneider, who was in charge of the work, to remain at work taking off the wheels, until he could return with new ones, and then both of them would go to supper. It was a rush job and Harris was so informed by Mr. Schneider, and yet he left without completing the work laid out for him and which he was directed to do prior to Mr. Schneider's return.

There is not a particle of evidence in the record that the employer or anyone in authority in its behalf gave the applicant permission to take the motorcycle home with him, (immaterial as it is to the issues in this case) or that the applicant, while away from the premises getting his supper, was doing anything whatsoever in the course of his employment or of use or benefit to his employer's business.

Such being the evidence, what basis, then, is there for a finding by the Commission that the applicant, at the time of the accident, was within the scope of his employment? Certainly there is no competent or substantial evidence in the record to support any such finding.

As to the second question, raised herein, to-wit: "May the Commission award compensation covering permanent loss of bodily function without evidence of permanent injury?" it should suffice to say at this point in the brief, under a discussion of the facts, that there is not a scintilla of evidence in the record on this point. The law applicable to the same will be discussed later on in the brief under subdivision II.

THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSION IS CONTRARY TO LAW.

I. The evidence here shows without contradiction that the injury did not arise out of or in the course of applicant's employment, and there is no evidence to support any such finding that it did. It is a fundamental

and well-recognized rule of law in this jurisdiction as well as elsewhere that an employee injured on the way to and from meals is not entitled to compensation, for he is serving primarily a purpose of his own.

II. There is no competent or substantial evidence in the record, and, in fact, no evidence, to support the finding of the Commission that the applicant "while in the course of his duties as helper, sustained accidental injury," and that he now suffers some permanent partial loss of the use of his left leg below the knee as a result of such injury; but, on the contrary, such findings are predicated solely upon surmise, speculation, and conjecture.

Therefore it is apparent that the Commission's conclusions of law herein are contrary to law, and are unsupported by any finding of fact based upon competent or substantial evidence, and therefore the decision is contrary to law in its entirety.

I.

THE INJURY DID NOT ARISE OUT OF OR IN COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT.

The decision of the Commission herein is contrary to the rule laid down by this court in the case of *Fidelity and Casualty Company v. Commission*, 79 Utah 189, 8 P. (2d) 617, wherein this question was presented to it and the award therein made by the Industrial Commission was annulled and set aside. The rule announced

by this court in that case is in full accord with the established authorities elsewhere. Undoubtedly the error made herein is accounted for because of the pressure of work upon the Commission, and had reference been made to the decisions of this Court, and if all the members of the Commission had had an opportunity to pass on same, the result arrived at would have been exactly opposite.

The facts in this case, as hereinbefore pointed out, demonstrate that the employee was not acting in the course of his employment when injured, so that the decision of the Commission, if sustained, would have the effect of extending the liability of employers not only in compensation, but also in personal injury cases involving third parties, to situations where the employee was not acting in the course of his employment.

It is evident that a decision that an employee is entitled to Workmen's Compensation Insurance when injured at a time when he is not under the control or right of control of his employer, nor in any way limited in his activities by reason of his employment, in fact, holds that it is not necessary that the employee shall have been acting in the course of his employment, to be entitled to Workmen's Compensation for injury.

The decision of the Industrial Commission in this case fails to recognize that an employee is not acting in the course of his employment when he is going to his place of employment or coming back therefrom. The "going and coming" rule is well established, not only in this state, but elsewhere, and the evidence in this case

demonstrates that the rule is fully applicable to the case at bar. To reverse such a well-established rule would be to unsettle the law and add serious burdens to industry not contemplated by the Legislature and unwarranted in justice and principle.

While in the case of *Ocean Accident and Guaranty Company v. Industrial Accident Commission*, 173 Cal. 313, it is recognized that it is a necessary part of his employment that the employee shall go to and return from his place of labor, the Court said:

“Therefore, an employee going to and from his place of employment is not rendering any service and begins to render such service only when, as has been said, arriving at the place of his employment he proceeds to use some instrumentality provided, by means of which he equally places himself in a position to perform his tasks.”

This rule was later affirmed by Chief Justice Waste in the later case of *California Casualty Indemnity Exchange v. Industrial Accident Commission*, 190 Cal. 433.

This court in the case of *North Point Consol. Irr. Co. v. Industrial Commission of Utah, et al.*, 61 Utah 421, 214 P. 22, held that an employee was not protected while on his way to work even though he had been disappointed in receiving transportation promised by his foreman without authority. The following is taken from the syllabus in that case.

“Injuries to an employee struck by an automobile while riding his bicycle on a street of his

own selection on his way to work, after his foreman failed to get an automobile to carry him, as he had stated he might do, did not arise in the course or out of the employment within the Workmen's Compensation Act, the foreman having undertaken to provide transportation as a mere accommodation without authority from the employer, who was not obligated to do so.

“Where at the time of the injury the employee is engaged in a voluntary act not accepted by, or known to, his employer and outside of the duties for which he is employed, the injury cannot be said to be in the course of the employment.”

71 C. J. 663.

This fundamental principle is sustained by authorities in practically every state in the United States, including the recent Utah case of *Rich v. Industrial Commission*, 80 Utah 511, 15 P. (2d) 641.

The following principle, well sustained by authority, is found in 71 C. J., page 638:

“Nevertheless a definition widely adopted is that an injury to an employee arises in the course of his employment when it occurs within the period of his employment, at a place where he may reasonably be, and while he is reasonably fulfilling the duties of his employment or engaged in doing something incidental to it.”

An attempted extension of the doctrine to protect an employee while on his way to or from work was very vigorously made in the leading case of *Postal Telegraph & Cable Co. v. Industrial Accident Commission*, 37 P.

(2d) Page 442. This court will recognize the importance of that case, and very seldom indeed are so many eminent counsel called into a legal controversy as there were in that case. The reason therefore is because of the seriousness of the question and the attempt to bring under the coverage of the Workmen's Compensation Act, accidents not arising in the course of the employment. The facts in that case also involved a motorcycle operated by an employee. The injured man was on no special errand for the employer and had not yet reached his place of employment where his duties began. The facts are identical in that regard with the case under consideration. Said the Court:

“When an employee is off duty, the relation of employer and employee is suspended and does not reattach until the employee resumes the master's work.”

The Court further said:

“He could not only deviate for the convenience of his friend, but could also perform any task for himself or for another at any time before reaching the place where his duties were to begin. This holding is in accord with the overwhelming weight of authority where the principle involved is identical with that found in the instant case.”

The award was annulled.

In the case of *Covey-Ballard Motor Co., et al., v. Industrial Commission, et al.*, 64 Utah 1, 227 Pac. 1028, involving a salesman while riding home in his own auto-

mobile after attending a meeting at the office of the employer, it was held that injury was not compensable as arising in the course of the employment.

In the case of *Denver & Rio Grande R. R. Co. v. Industrial Commission, et al.*, 72 Utah 199, 269 Pac. 513, the company furnished transportation *from* the section house, but the accident happened *before* the employee got to the section house and in the same vehicle driven by the same employee that was later to take him from the section house to the place of work. The court, after reviewing the authorities, held that the risk of going to the section house was the employee's and, therefore, the award of the Utah Industrial Commission was annulled. Announcing the principle, this court said:

“Before arrival at the section house in the morning neither (employee nor truck driver) were under the control or direction of the employer.”

In the case of *Greer v. Industrial Commission, et al.*, 74 Utah 379, 279 Pac. 900, an employee carrying a saw which he had sharpened at home was injured, but the court held that he was not protected while on his way to work merely because he was carrying a saw belonging to the company and which it was his duty to keep sharp, as this was only incidental and the employee did not come within any of the exceptions to the general rule. This Court said:

“In this case the deceased was not injured while sharpening the saw at his home. The accident did not occur while he was actually engaged

in the performance of a duty for the employer. The dangers of the street between his home and the stockyards were not incidental to his employment, but were dangers common to all."

Surely by this test the applicant's case herein falls, because he was not performing any duty for his employer. It thus appears that the decided Utah cases are in full agreement with the general rule and are decisive of the issue here in favor of plaintiffs and against the decision and award of the Commission.

The facts in the case of *Fidelity and Casualty Company v. Industrial Commission* (supra), in which this Court reversed an award of compensation made by the Industrial Commission made out a much stronger claim for compensation than do the facts herein. There the employee was required to have and use a bicycle and was required to take a bicycle home after working hours because his first duty in the morning was to go directly from home to the Semloh Hotel where he picked up films for development and which he was required to take to his place of employment. This hotel was on his direct route to his place of employment. While riding his bicycle from home to the hotel, and before reaching the hotel, he was injured. This Court held that his course of employment did not commence until he arrived at his place of employment, and that not having reached the Semloh Hotel, where his duties first began, he had not yet entered upon his duties for his employer and was not, therefore, acting in the course of his employment. This

Court pointed out in that case, that at the time the employee was injured he was in no sense under the control of his employer, indicating that in order for the relationship of an employer and employee to exist there must be control or the right of control, and that without this there is no employment and necessarily no course of employment.

The Court said:

“It is a general rule of law that an injury sustained by an employee while going to or returning from his place of work upon his own initiative in a conveyance of his own choosing and on his own time is not an injury arising out of or in the course of his employment and hence an injury thus sustained is not compensable under Workmen’s Compensation Acts. *This court is committed to such doctrine.*” (Italics ours.)

“*North Point Consol. Irr. Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 61 Utah 421, 214 P. 22;

Greer v. Industrial Commission,
74 Utah 379, 279 P. 900;

Denver & Rio Grande W. R. Co. v. Industrial Comm., 72 Utah 199, 269 P. 512,
62 A. L. R. 1436;

Covey-Ballard Motor Co. v. Industrial Commission, 64 Utah 1, 227 P. 1028.”

In this case, just as in the case above referred to, the employee was at perfect liberty to take whatever course he desired to reach his place of employment and as the Court said, “the time when he was to enter upon

his employment had not yet arrived.' In that case, just as in this case, the employee was not under the protection of the act when he was several miles away from his place of employment and on his way to work. There is no reason whatever for applying a different rule in the instant case than in the case above referred to.

In the instant case it was wholly immaterial to the employer where the employee should have his meals and what means of conveyance, if any, he should use in going to such place. Certainly it was not responsible for his use of the motorcycle nor the manner in which he operated it. Where the employee went to obtain food was no concern of his employer and the manner in which he chose to go there was entirely his own selection and not that of his employer.

During the time that the employee was absent in going to his home his employment was suspended and during such time no act of his can be considered as occurring in the course of his employment, either for the purpose of establishing a right to compensation or to justify an action by a third party against the employer for the acts of the employee. In driving the motorcycle home he acted as a free agent and his method and course of travel were in no way controlled by his employer. When injured, he was on no errand for his employer and was neither bound to render it further service nor was he subject to its further directions until he returned to the premises for work. As said before, the relation of the employer and employee was suspended. There was

at the time of the accident, no employment, as the term is used in the statute.

It is uniformly held that to entitle an employee to compensation for an injury he must prove that he was performing a service for his *employer*. In going to and from his home the employee in this case was performing a service *for himself*. There is, therefore, no basis for taking this case out of the "going and coming" rule.

It is apparent from the testimony that the employee in this case took the motorcycle without the permission of his employer, so that he might have a means of transportation to his own home to obtain something to eat and to give his sister a ride. That was his own personal business. If he had been injured while walking to or from his employer's premises, it is certain that he would not then have been in the course of his employment. Does the fact that he took his employer's motorcycle, without permission, change the situation in any way? He was not insured generally against accident while working for his employer. At home or on the street he may meet with an accident not arising out of or in the course of his employment. The act does not cover such cases. The employee gets up in the morning, dresses himself, eats, that he may be able to work, and goes to work because of his employment; yet, if he meets with an accident before arriving at the employer's premises, that is not a risk of his occupation, but of life generally. He was not injured while on duty nor in his working hours nor

on his way to or from his duty within the premises of the employer.

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