1940

Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company, and Hartford Accident and Indemnity Company v. The Industrial Commission of the State of Utah and Lee James Harris : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES

Plaintiffs assail the finding of the Industrial Commission of Utah, to wit:

“On the 8th day of May, 1939, while employed by the defendant Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, at Salt Lake City, Utah, while in the course of his duties as helper, applicant sustained accidental injury in the following manner: Being required to work overtime the applicant rode a motorcycle owned

by the Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company to his home for dinner and was accidentally injured on the return trip; the motorcycle became unmanageable, left the road and crashed into the side of a private residence, badly crushing applicant's left leg below the knee; he also sustained contusions of the elbows and lower arms."

They assert that "During the time that employee was absent going to his home, his employment was suspended" * * * and that "He was not injured while on duty nor in his working hours" * * * This issue raises a question of fact that must be determined by an examination of the evidence taken before the Commission. Almost invariably in controversies involving liability of the employer to the employee, conflicts in evidence occur. The Commission that hears the evidence and sees the witnesses is better able than an appellate court to resolve such conflicts. If there is evidence that substantially supports the finding of the Commission, this court will not disturb the ruling of the Commission. Citation of cases to support this proposition is not needed.

Plaintiffs invoke what is commonly called the "going and coming" rule which is frequently stated as follows. The employee gets up in the morning, dresses himself, and goes to work because of his employment; yet if he meets with an accident before coming to the employer's premises, or his place of work, that is not a risk of his occupation but of life generally." The same result obtains generally when the employee has completed his shift and leaves the employer's premises to go to his home, or wherever he pleases, in his own way and for his own purposes. With that rule

applied to an appropriate state of facts, the defendants have no quarrel.

However, the set of facts in a given case differ so greatly from the facts in other cases that the rule cannot be applied blindly. Each case must be ruled upon its facts. This is emphasized by this court in the following case.

Cudahy Packing Company vs. Industrial Commission,
60 Utah 161.

This was the first “going and coming” case decided by this court where a variance from the rule is recognized. While the decision now is looked upon as academic, yet at the time it was considered quite revolutionary. It later received the approval of the Supreme Court of the United State. In a private conveyance deceased was traveling along a highway toward his place of employment. This highway was the only available public way for employees of the Cudahy plant to approach the employer’s premises. It crossed the mainline tracks of two railroads and the court held that the risk of these crossings was incidental to the employment, and although the employee was killed upon these tracks before reaching the place of employment, nevertheless the accident was compensable. In the course of the decision the following paragraphs appear :

“It is not easy and probably not possible or desirable to state any general rule applicable to every condition or state of facts by or under which compensation can be allowed or denied to an employee. Courts are usually controlled by the peculiar facts of each case.”

On rehearing the court again says :

“We reaffirm the statement in the opinion that every case must depend on its own particular facts.”

CITATION OF CASES

Before stating the evidence upon which the Industrial Commission based its ruling that the injury in question arose out of or in the course of the employment, we respectfully call to the court's attention a few illustrative cases taken from the great number of well-considered cases in which Supreme Courts have held against the contention that the going and coming rule applied and have given compensation where the purpose, spirit and liberal construction of the workmens' compensation law, applied to the particular facts in the case, justify granting compensation, altho the hard letter of the rule would seem to shut off that right.

Texas Indemnity Ins. Co. vs. Clark (Texas) 50 So. W. (2nd) 465.

Claimant was one of a gang of employees of the Prairie Pipe Line Company engaged in repairing leaks in the pipeline. On January 11, work was completed in Palo Pinto County and the gang, with the exception of claimant, were transferred to Jack County for work next day. Applicant and two others were ordered, or permitted as variously stated, to remain in Mineral Springs, Palo Pinto County, until morning when they were to report for work in Jack County. Applicant left Mineral Springs early in the morning of January 12 for Jack County and proceeded to search for lodgings. No camp facilities were furnished by employer. While in a private auto searching for a lodging place, applicant was injured in a collision on a public street. The gang went to work at 7:00 as usual the morning of the 12th. Applicant did not work at all that day. Injury occurred after the noon meal.

In holding injury compensable it is stated :

“We think a jury could reasonably conclude under such circumstances that Clark’s act in securing necessary rooming place was incidental to and in furtherance of his duty as an employee of the company.” * * *

Hobson vs. Dept. of Labor & Industries (Wash.) 27 Pac. (2nd) 1091.

Deceased was engaged as watchman or repairman by Greenwood Logging Company, which had suspended operation. His work was 24 hours each day. On the occasion of his death he had gone on a gasoline propelled speeder owned and furnished by the employer, to a point some miles distant to secure groceries, for his own use and which were purchased at his own expense. Objection to an award was on the ground that he was on an errand of his own and not for his employer.

In holding that he was killed in the course of his employment the Supreme Court says :

“The action of Hobson, procuring food supplies, was necessary to the proper performance of his work and constituted no interruption of the course of his employment (24 hours per day as watchman and general repairman). Hence Hobson was engaged in the furtherance of the interests of his employer at the time of the fatal accident. He was killed while in the course of his employment, therefore his widow is entitled to compensation.”

Mackay vs. Dept. of Labor and Industries (Wash.) 44 Pac. (2nd) 793.

Claimant was employed with his caterpillar by the hour in road construction. While working his caterpillar broke

down and he stopped work and took the broken parts some distance to a garage for repairs. While at the garage he was injured. The Supreme Court granted compensation.

“The caterpillar became disabled on the job. The job was not done. The claimant did the natural thing in taking the disabled part at once to the nearest place where it could be repaired to enable him, as speedily as possible, to do the work for which he was hired. We think this was incidental to his employment even though the aggregate amount of his pay was to be determined by the time during which the machine was in operation.”

The court quotes with approval the following language from an earlier Washington case.

“This court is committed to the doctrine that our Workmen’s Compensation Act should be liberally construed in favor of its beneficiaries. It is a humane law and founded upon sound public policy and is the result of thoughtful painstaking and humane considerations and its beneficent provisions should not be limited or curtailed by a narrow construction.”

Michaux, et al. vs. Gate City Orange, etc. Co. (N. C.)
172 So. E. 406.

Deceased, 16 years of age, employed as assistant to the truck driver. On day in question the truck stopped to make a delivery and while the truck was standing still deceased and another negro boy engaged in a fuss about an Eskimo pie. The driver of the truck started off without him when the deceased ran after it, caught the truck and in attempting to climb on it fell and sustained the injury causing his death. Held by the Industrial Commission that “deceased suffered

an accident that arose out of and in the course of his employment."

The Supreme Court of North Carolina ignores the fact that he had left his employment for purposes of his own and that fact was the occasion of his injury. It occurred during his working time and therefore was compensable.

Gilmore vs. Ring Const. Co. (Mo.) 61 So. W. (2nd) 764.

Complainant was employed by the construction company to pour concrete. The work depending upon weather conditions it was the custom for the men to report about 7:30 a. m. for work and if conditions were not right the men would often wait around the job at the request of the foreman until it would be ascertained as to whether conditions changed for the better. It was a custom to have a fire around which the men would assemble for comfort while waiting. On the morning in question claimant reported at 7:30 a. m. and was told weather conditions were not then right and the foreman told him to wait around to see if weather conditions would get better. The men were discussing in jocular mood about some men working Saturday forenoon in violation of a union rule. As a result of some remark by complainant one of the other men grabbed him and shoved him and he fell and broke his leg.

The court of appeals held that he was an employee; that he had reported for work in conformity with the conditions under which the work was being done. His foreman had told him to wait around. He was as much in his line of duty as he would have been if pouring cement.

“We conclude from the undisputed facts in evidence in this case that as a matter of law it should be held that the accident wherein the complainant was injured arose out of and in the course of his employment.”

Industrial Commission vs. Murphy (Ohio) 197 No. East. 505.

Applicant was employed by an undertaking establishment. His work was around the funeral home and occasionally he was required to go to hospitals or homes for his employer. He lived a distance from his place of employment and was by the terms of his employment required at all times to hold himself in readiness for a call for immediate service. His employer must be kept informed day and night of his whereabouts and immediately upon call he was to report to his place of employment. There were no regular hours of employment. On the day of the injury at 6:00 a. m. he received a call that he was wanted and to come in a hurry. He drank a cup of coffee, went to get a street car, which was his ordinary method of travel, and there was injured. It was contended his actual employment did not commence until he reached the funeral home which was the fact and the “going and coming” rule was invoked.

The Supreme Court in granting compensation said:

“We conclude therefore that the defendant in error was injured during and by reason of his employment.”

Chandler vs. Industrial Commission, 55 Utah 213.

“The beneficent purposes of such acts (Work-

mens Compensation) are apparent to all and for that reason if for no other should receive a very liberal construction in favor of the injured employee. We are all united on the proposition that in view of the purposes of such acts, in case there is any doubt respecting the right to compensation, such doubt should be resolved in favor of the employee or of his dependents as the case may be."

The foregoing was written by this Supreme Court in a case where a delivery man, in the morning, on his way to his employer's place of business to start his day's work, delivered a package of meat left from the day before. The defense set up in this case by the insurance company was the "going and coming" rule.

Twin Peaks C. Co. vs. Industrial Commission, 57 Utah 589.

During an interval of leisure the employee in this case was playing with an elevator. The power was shut off to tease another boy and leave him stalled between floors. In turning on the power the deceased was killed. During all the time the deceased was so playing the particular machine on which he was employed was inactive. This court awarded compensation for his death and while this is not a "going and coming" case some of the statements made by the court are quite applicable in the case at bar.

"A careful reading of the decided case will, however, disclose that the mere fact that the injured employee was not in the discharge of his usual duties or was not directly engaged in anything connected with those duties, does not necessarily prevent him

from recovering compensation in case of accidental injury. In that connection it must be remembered that, while a human being may do no more than what a machine might do, yet he cannot be classed as a machine merely."

"While, therefore, in view of all the circumstances in this case, there may be some reason for reasonable minds to differ with respect to whether the accident in question arose out of the employment, yet, in view that we are required to construe the act liberally and with a view to effectuating its purpose, and so as to protect the unfortunate employee, and, in case of his death, those who are dependent on him for support, we feel constrained to hold that the accident in question arose in the course of the employment."

Utah Apex Mng. Co. vs. Industrial Commission, 67 Utah 537.

While this is not a "going and coming" case the injury in question occurred after working hours and issue was raised as to whether or not it arose out of the employment.

The court approves the following definitions:

"The expressions 'arising out of' and 'in the course of' the employment are not synonymous; but the words 'arising out of' are construed to refer to the origin or cause of the injury, and the words 'in the course of' to refer to the time, place and circumstances under which it occurred. An injury which occurs in the course of the employment will ordinarily but not necessarily, arise out of it, while an injury arising out of an employment almost necessarily occurs in the course of it."

EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION BASED ITS HOLDING THAT THE INJURY AROSE OUT OF OR IN THE COURSE OF THE EMPLOYMENT.

In stating the evidence upon which the Commission based its holding we are mindful of the admonition written by Judge Thurman in the case last above cited:

“It is an established rule in this jurisdiction, based upon mandatory statute, that on writ of review, the court will not disturb the Commission’s findings if there is any substantial evidence to sustain them. Further, that the court will not review the evidence and pass upon its weight. So that it is love’s labor lost and time wasted for counsel, in argument, to devote time and space in discussing evidence in conflict with the evidence upon which the award was made.”

Applicant, 19 years old, was in the employ of the defendant tire company on the day in question. He worked as an extra man in the service department, which included the lubrication department and the actual mounting of tires (Tr. 1, p. 26). His regular hours were from nine o’clock a. m. to six o’clock p. m., with a lunch hour off at noon. The injury occurred on the sixth day of his employment. On previous days he finished the day’s work around 6:30 p. m. His wages were \$2.50 per day. (Tr. 1, p. 20.) On the day of the injury he was required to stay on for extra work continuing directly from the end of his regular shift. At the outset the length of the overtime was estimated by the foreman at four hours. Which would mean until 10:00 or 10:30 p. m.

Evidently the job lengthened as time went on. Nothing was said about an opportunity to eat until about 8:00 o'clock. At that time applicant was loosening bolts on the wheels of a truck and delay had occurred in procuring new tires from the wholesale house. The job was temporarily held up. Mr. Schneider, the boss, told applicant and the other workmen to go to supper. Applicant said he would go as soon as he loosened the bolts and nuts on the rear wheels. (Applicant Tr. 1, p. 4 and 14. Grover Tr. 2, p. 3-5 and 12. Costly Tr. 2, p. 14.) Mr. Schneider and the other two employees went away. Nothing was said to applicant to the effect that he should wait at the garage until Schneider returned. (Tr. 1, p. 49.)

Applicant finished loosening the bolts and nuts on the wheels. Then he talked with Mr. Fox who was in charge of the lubricating department and who was the only other employee of the tire company then in the service department and under whom applicant worked part of the time. He asked Mr. Fox about using the motorcycle for going home. Mr. Fox said his car was on the grease rack and then applicant went to the motorcycle which was on the open court as usual. Mr. Fox asked him if he was going to use the motorcycle and he answered yes. He had trouble starting the motor and one of the boys in the gas station department helped him start it and he went home. It was then about 8:15 p. m. (Tr. 1, pages 4 and 10.) The motorcycle was the only means applicant had of getting home. (Tr. 1, p. 15.)

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